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PER CURI AM *

Plaintiff Margaret Brasfield appeals the district court's
grant of summary judgnent dismssing her disability and age
di scrimnation clains, brought pursuant to 42 U S.C. 8§ 12101, et
seq. and 29 U.S.C. 8§ 621, et seq. W affirm

I

Brasfield worked at Gl nore Menorial Hospital ("G lnore") as

Pursuant to Local Rule 47.5, the Court has determ ned that this
opi ni on should not be published and is not precedent except under the linmted
circunstances set forth in Local Rule 47.5. 4.



a nmedi cal records clerk. 1n 1993, Brasfield suffered a serious arm
and shoulder injury in a violent assault. G lnore repeatedly
grant ed Brasfi el d successi ve | eaves of absence during whi ch she had
two surgeries on her arm and shoul der. Brasfield was unable to
tell Glnore when she would be able to return to work. Gl nore
required her to sign a formwhich stated that the hospital was not
required to hold her position open. G |l nore permanently filled

Brasfield' s position approximtely three nonths after her injury.

Brasfield sought reinstatenent with G | nore nine nonths after
her injury when she was finally able to return to work. Gl nore
of fered her several positions, but she was only qualified for the
position of ward clerk, which required that she work a late shift
and be paid only $5 an hour. Prior to her injury, Brasfield was
ear ni ng approxi mately $12 an hour. After Brasfield refused all of
the positions that Gl nore offered her, she was notified that she
had "voluntarily quit" her |ob. Three nonths later, Brasfield
accepted a position as nedical records clerk with another hospital.

Brasfield then filed suit against Glnore for violations of
the Age Discrimnation in Enploynent Act of 1967 (ADEA), 29 U.S. C
8§ 621, et seq., and the Anericans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42
US C § 12101, et seq. G Inore noved for summary judgnment on the
ground that Brasfield presented no evidence that GInore had
discrimnated against her on the basis of age or disability.
G lnore al so argued that Brasfield did not have a "disability," as
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defined by the ADA. The district court granted Glnore's notion
for summary judgnent, and Brasfield filed a tinely appeal.
I

Summary judgnent i s appropriate when there i s no dispute as to
a material fact, and the noving party is entitled to judgnent as a
matter of law. Dutcher v. Ingalls Shipbuilding, 53 F.3d 723, 725
(5th Gr. 1995). W view issues of fact in the |ight nost
favorabl e to the nonnoving party and review i ssues of | aw de novo.
| d.

A

The ADA prohibits discrimnation "against a qualified
individual wth a disability" because of the individual's
disability. 42 U S.C 8§ 12112(a). To qualify for relief under the
ADA, a plaintiff must first establish that he or she suffers from
a "disability" within the neaning of the Act. Id. at 725. The ADA
defines disability as:

(A) a physical or nental inpairnment that substantially limts

one or nore of the major life activities of such individual;

(B) a record of such an inpairnent; or

(C being regarded as having such an i npairnent.
42 U.S.C. § 12102(2).

Brasfield clains that she has a disability as defined under
§ 12101(2)(A) or 8§ 12101(2)(B) of the ADA. To establish disability
under 8§ 12101(2)(A), Brasfield must prove that her physical

i npai rment substantially limts one or nore of her mgjor life

activities. Major life activities include functions such as caring
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for oneself, perform ng manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing,
speaki ng, breathing, learning, working, lifting, reaching, sitting
and st andi ng. 29 CF.R 8 1630.2(1); Dutcher, 53 F.3d at 726
Whet her a physical inpairnment substantially limts a major life
activity is determned in light of (1) the nature and severity of
the inpairnment; (2) the duration or expected duration of the
i npai rment; and (3) the permanent or expected |ong-term i npact of
t he i npairnent.

W nust first determ ne whether Brasfield is substantially
limted in a major life activity other than working.! In her
deposition, Brasfield stated that she is unable to |ift her arm
over her head, to |ift heavy objects, or to reach her hand up.?
However, her deposition also revealed that she still lives al one

and fully cares for herself; she is able to drive, cook, wash, and

1 Dutcher, 53 F.3d at 726 n.10 ("If an individual is not substantially
limted with respect to any other major life activity, the individual's ability
to performthe major life activity of working should be considered. If an
individual is substantially limted in any other mgjor life activity, no

determ nation should be nade as to whether the individual is substantially
[imted in working.") (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 12101(2)(A); 29 CF.R § 1630, App.
8§ 1630.2(j)).

2 In response to Glnore's notion for sumary judgnent, Brasfield gave

an affidavit listing ten daily functions which she could no l|onger perform
including Iifting anything heavy, washing her hair, going to the drive-in bank

wearing bl ouses that button in the front, sweeping, nopping, or sleeping on her
left side. These were intended to establish a factual basis of substantial
[imtations on her major life activities. However, Brasfield stated in her
deposition that other than not being able to Ilift her I eft armabove her head or
lift anything heavy with her left arm she was still able to do everything she
could do before her injury. To the extent that the affidavit contradicts
Brasfield' s deposition, she cannot use it to defeat the nmotion for summary
judgnent. Al bertson v. T.J. Stevenson & Co., Inc., 749 F.2d 223, 228 (5th Gr.
1984) ("the nonnovant cannot defeat a notion for sunmary judgnent by submitting
an affidavit which directly contradicts, wthout explanation, his previous
testinony").
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clean. Brasfield has failed to present any evidence fromwhich a
jury could find that her inpairnent substantially limted a major
life activity other than working. See Dutcher, 53 F.3d at 726 n.
11 (holding that plaintiff had failed to produce evidence from
which jury could find she was substantially limted in her major
life activities, where plaintiff clainmed she could not pick up
little things off the floor, hold things up high, hold things tight
for periods of tinme, or turn her car ignition wthout difficulty,
but she could still feed herself, drive, wash dishes, and carry
groceries).

We must now deci de whether Brasfield s ability to work has
been substantially limted. Substantial inpairnent of the ngjor
life activity of working occurs when one is "significantly
restricted in the ability to performeither a class of jobs or a
broad range of jobs in various classes.” Id. at 727. An inability
to do one particular job does not qualify as a disability. | d.
Brasfield presents no evidence that she was unable to perform an
entire class of jobs. In fact, Brasfield currently works as a
records clerk for another enployer, doing the sane work that she
performed before her injury. She testified at her deposition that,
for the nost part, her inpairnment does not affect her |job
per f or mance. Therefore, we find that Brasfield has failed to
present any evidence from which a jury could find that her

i npai r nent substantially limts a mjor life activity.



Accordingly, Brasfield fails to qualify as disabled under
§ 12101(2) (A).

Brasfield also contends that she has a record of an
i npairment, and therefore is disabled under § 12101(2)(B) of the

ADA. Having "a record of such an inpairnent” is defined as "a
hi story of, or has been classified (or m sclassified) as having a

physi cal inpairnment that substantially limts one or nore
major life activities." 29 CF. R § 1613.702(d). Brasfield has
not provided any evidence that she has been classified or
m scl assi fied as bei ng di sabl ed. The record shows that G | nore was
willing to enploy Brasfield in several different positions at the
hospi tal, and anot her hospital subsequently hired her as a records
clerk. Accordingly, there is no factual basis for a jury to find
that Brasfield was regarded as "having an inpairnent that

substantially limted a major life activity, whether she had such

an inpairnent or not." Dutcher, 53 F.3d at 727.°3

3 PBrasfield argues that her hospitalization and her nine-nonth inability

to work suffice as records of an inpairment. For this proposition, she relies
upon the Suprenme Court's | anguage in School Bd. of Nassau County v. Arline, 480
U S 273, 281, 107 S. C. 1123, 1127, 94 L.Ed.2d 307 (1987), stating that the
hospitalization of a patient with tubercul osis created a record of an i npairnent.

Brasfield was hospitalized during two surgeries on her shoul der. The
record does not reflect the anount of time she spent in the hospital. W reject
the notion that an individual is disabled sinply because she has been

hospitalized. See Evans v. City of Dallas, 861 F.2d 846, 852-53 (5th Gr. 1988)
(holding that hospitalization must be of continuing nature before it can be
deened record of inpairnment); see al so Demm ng v. Housing & Redevel opnment Auth.,
66 F.3d 950, 955 (8th Cir. 1995) (agreeing with Seventh and Sixth Circuits in
finding that sinple hospitalization is insufficient to establish an inpairnent
under the ADA); Taylor v. United States Postal Serv., 946 F.2d 1214, 1217 (6th
Cr. 1991) (declining to find that every hospital stay creates record of
i mpai rnent).



Because Brasfield failed to prove that she was disabled as
that termis defined in the statute, the district court did not err
when it summarily dism ssed Brasfield s ADA claim

B

Brasfield also argues that the district court erred in
granting summary judgnent in favor of Glnore on her ADEA claim*
To state a clai munder the ADEA, a plaintiff nust present evidence
that (1) she was discharged; (2) she was qualified for the job; (3)
she was within the protected class at the tine of the discharge;
and (4) either (a) she was replaced by soneone outside the
protected class, or (b) she was repl aced by soneone younger, or (c)

she was otherw se discharged because of her age. Rhodes v.

GQui berson Ol Tools, 1996 W. 37846, at *1 (5th G r. January 31

4 Brasfield bases her ADEA claim on the followi ng facts fromthe

record. Brasfield alleges that her supervisor, Debra May, told her that she was
on a "hit list," and that the nanagenent "hated her guts." Brasfield
acknow edged in her deposition that May did not say that Brasfield' s placenent
on this list had anything to do with her age, Brasfield sinply made this
assunption. Brasfield also alleges that several fornmer G| nore enpl oyees have
succeeded in age discrimnation cases against Glnore in support of her claim
against Glnore

Brasfield further cites an advertisenent that G| nore placed in a newspaper
four years before Brasfield' s termination recruiting enployees to join "a young,
ef fecti ve managenent teant at Glnore. The district court properly refused to
consider this evidence in the notion for sumary judgnment because it was renote
intine and bore no connection to Brasfield' s discharge. See Birbeck v. Marvel
Li ghting Corp., 30 F.3d 507, 512 (4th Cir.) (refusing to consider as evi dence of
age discrimnation statement that "there cones a tine when we have to nake way
for younger peopl e" made two years before plaintiff was di scharged because it was
too renpte in time and did not create an inference of age bias), cert. denied,
__us __, 115 s C. 666, 130 L. Ed. 2d 600 (1994). Brasfield also alleges
t hat no other enpl oyee was forced to sign the formthat G | nore asked her to sign
acknow edgi ng that G I nore was not required to keep Brasfield' s job avail able for
her while she was on | eave. The district court also properly refused to consi der
this evi dence because it was not supported by any affidavits, only Brasfield's
all egations. See Al bertson, 749 F.2d at 228 (stating that "[a]lthough the court
nust resolve all factual inferences in favor of the nonnovant, the nonnmovant
cannot nmanufacture a disputed material fact where none exists").
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1996) (en banc); Fields v. J.C Penney Co., Inc., 968 F. 2d 533, 536
(5th Gr. 1992). Once the plaintiff establishes a prinma facie case
of age discrimnation, an inference of discrimnation arises, and
the defendant nust articulate a legitimate, nondiscrimnatory
reason for its actions. Rhodes, 1996 W. at *1. |[If the defendant
nmeets this burden, the inference of discrimnation created by the
plaintiff's prima faci e case di sappears, and the burden returns to
the plaintiff to raise a genuine issue of material fact that the
enpl oyer's reason is a pretext for discrimnation. |Id.

In sum an ADEA plaintiff can avoid summary judgnent if the
evi dence taken as a whol e

(1) creates a fact issue as to whether each of the

enpl oyer' s stated reasons was what actually notivated the

enpl oyer and (2) creates a reasonable inference that age

was a determnative factor in the actions of which

plaintiff conplains. The defendant will be entitled to

summary judgnent if the evidence taken as a whol e woul d

not allowa jury to infer that the actual reason for the

di scharge was discrimnatory.

Rhodes, 1996 WL at *3.

The district court assuned, as do we, that Brasfield has
established a prima facie case under the ADEA In response,
G lnore has asserted a legitimate, nondiscrimnatory reason for
Brasfield s discharge. G lnore explained that it permanently
replaced Brasfield while she was on |eave because it could not
afford to keep her spot open for her return, particularly since it

was uncertain whether Brasfield would ever be able to return.

Thereafter, Brasfield was discharged because her position was
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filled, and she refused all of the positions offered to her when
she was able to return to work. The presunption of discrimnation
created by Brasfield s prima facie case thus drops fromthe case,
leaving the ultimate question of whether Glnore intentionally
di scrimnated against Brasfield. Brasfield has presented no
credible evidence to rebut Glnore's legitinmte nondi scrimnatory
reason for Brasfield s discharge or to otherwise create a fact
issue as to whether Glnore intentionally discrimnated agai nst
her. See Fields v. J.C. Penney, Inc., 968 F.2d 533, 538 (5th Cr
1992) (stating that "[e]ven if all of the [defendant's] other
enpl oyees had been term nated for age rel ated reasons, that fact is
not probative of the reasons wunderlying [the plaintiff's]
dismssal"); Elliott v. Goup Med. & Surg. Serv., 714 F. 2d 556, 567
(5th Gr. 1983) (holding that "subjective belief of discrimnation,
however genuine,"” is not sufficient evidence to support jury's
finding of age discrimnation), cert. denied, 467 U S. 1215, 104 S
Ct. 2658, 81 L. Ed. 2d 364 (1984). Therefore, the district court
did not err in granting summary judgnent in favor of G lnore on
Brasfield' s ADEA claim
11
For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM the district court's

j udgnent .



